1101110	gister of Historic Places Co		Name of Property
			County and State
umber	Page		Name of multiple property listing (if applicable
	SUPPLEMEN	TARY LISTING R	RECORD
NRIS	Reference Number: 07000599	Date Listed: 6-2	7-07
Proper	rty Name: Chik Wauk Lodge	County: Cook	State: MN
This promine	roperty is listed in the National Regation documentation subject to the hstanding the National Park Service	following exceptions	s, exclusions, or amendments,
This pronounce notwith	roperty is listed in the National Regation documentation subject to the	following exceptions	s, exclusions, or amendments,
This pronoming notwith documents Signature	roperty is listed in the National Regation documentation subject to the hstanding the National Park Service nentation. The American Service and the Keeper and the Keeper ded Items in Nomination:	following exceptions e certification includ	s, exclusions, or amendments, ed in the nomination 28/2007 ate of Action
This prinominal notwith documed Signate American This Signate	roperty is listed in the National Regation documentation subject to the hstanding the National Park Service nentation. Let Are Let Let Let Let Let Let Let Let Let Le	following exceptions e certification includ	s, exclusions, or amendments, ed in the nomination 28/2007 ate of Action
This pronoming notwith documents Signature Amenda This Signature Section	roperty is listed in the National Regation documentation subject to the hstanding the National Park Service nentation. The Augustus Service nentation and the Keeper Service nentation and the Service nentation and the Keeper Service nentation and the Keeper Nentation and the Service	following exceptions e certification includ	s, exclusions, or amendments, ed in the nomination 28/2007 ate of Action
This pronounce of the control of the	roperty is listed in the National Regation documentation subject to the hstanding the National Park Service tentation. Let a subject to the National Park Service tentation. Let a subject to the National Park Service tentation. Let a subject to the National Park Service tentation. Let a subject to the National Park Service tentation is for a nomination.	following exceptions e certification included by the position of the position included by the position of the	s, exclusions, or amendments, ed in the nomination 28/2007 ate of Action
This prince in the certain of the ce	roperty is listed in the National Regation documentation subject to the hstanding the National Park Service nentation. The Augustus Service nentation and the Keeper Service nentation and the Service nentation and the Keeper Service nentation and the Keeper Nentation and the Service	following exceptions e certification included by the position of the position included by the position of the	s, exclusions, or amendments, ed in the nomination 28/2007 ate of Action
This proposed in the proposed	roperty is listed in the National Regation documentation subject to the hstanding the National Park Service nentation. Left Argulus ure of the Keeper ded Items in Nomination: LR is issued to make the following on 3: State/Federal Agency Certification is for a nomination. operty meets the National Register	following exceptions e certification included by the property of the property	s, exclusions, or amendments, ed in the nomination 28/2007 ate of Action s:

National Register property file
Nominating Authority (without nomination attachment)

National Register of Historic Places Registration Form

MAY 1 6 2007

599

OMB No. 1024-0018

(Expires: 1-31-2009)

This form is for use in nominating or requesting determinations for individual properties and districts. See instructions in the expectation form (National Register Bulletin 16A). Complete each item by marking "x" in the expectation form (National Register Bulletin 16A). Complete each item by marking "x" in the expectation form (National Register Bulletin 16A). Complete each item by marking "x" in the expectation form the information requested. If an item does not apply to the property being documented, enter "N/A" for "not applicable." For functions, architectural classification, materials, and areas of significance, enter only categories and subcategories from the instructions. Place additional entries and narrative items on continuation sheets (NPS Form 10-900a). Use a typewriter, or computer, to complete all items.

1. Name of Prop	erty									
historic name		Chik Wauk	Lodge							
other names/site no	umber	Superior N	lational Fo	rest Herita	ge Site #0	9-09-02-738	3			
2. Location										
street & number	38 Moos	se Pond Roa	ad						_ not for	publication
city or town	Grand N	/larais							_ 🛭 vicinity	<i>'</i>
state	Minneso	ota code	e <u>MN</u>	county	Cook		_ code	031	_ zip code	<u>55604</u>
3. State/Federal	Agency (Certificatio	on							
As the designated determination of eliprocedural and pro Register Criteria. I additional commen Signature of certify U.S. FORES State or Federal again my opinion, the page of the state of	igibility meet fessional recommend ts.) June ing official gency and be	ts the docume quirements se that this prop Date	entation star et forth in 36 perty be con 5/8/0	ndards for residence of the sidered sign	egistering pi 50. In my op nificant ⊡na	roperties in the protection of the protection o	e National pperty ☐ matewide ☐	Register on the second	of Historic Plandoes not mee □See continu	ces and meets the the National uation sheet for
Signature of certify	ing official/T		N.J I. Bloombe	rg, Deputy S	State Histori	c Preservatio	n Officer, N	IN Histori	ical Society	20 07 Date
State or Federal ag	ency and bu	ıreau								
4. National Park										
I hereby certify that the entered in the Nat		ter.	Signa	tyre of the I	L An	dus			@ / 27	of Action 7
☐ determined eligibl National Re ☐ Se		on sheet.								
determined not eli National Re	-									
removed from the	National Re	egister.								
other, (explain):										

Chik Wauk Lodge and Canoe Outfit Name of Property	<u>tters</u>	Cook County, Minnesota County and State			
5. Classification					
Ownership of Property (Check as many boxes as apply)	Category of Property (Check only one box) building(s) district site structure object	Number of Resou (Do not include previou Contributing 1	rces within Property sly listed resources in the count) Noncontributing 2 building sites structure objects 2 Total		
Name of related multiple po (Enter "N/A" if property is not part of N/A	roperty listing f a multiple property listing.	Number of contributing resources previously listed in the National Register			
6. Function or Use Historic Functions (Enter categories from instructions)		Current Functions			
RECREATION AND CULTURE	outdoor recreation	(Enter categories from instructions) RECREATION AND CULTURE/museum			
		<u></u>			
7. Description					
Architectural Classification (Enter categories from instructions)	1	Materials (Enter categories from	n instructions)		

foundation STONE

walls STONE

roof ASPHALT

other

Narrative Description

LATE 19th AND EARLY 20th CENTURY AMERICAN

MOVEMENTS/Bungalow/Craftsman

(Describe the historic and current condition of the property on one or more continuation sheets.)

8. S	tate	ment of Significance					
		ble National Register Criteria	Areas of Significance				
		in one or more boxes for the criteria qualifying the property al Register listing)	(Enter categories from instructions)				
101 14	ationi	-	ENTERTAINMENT/RECREATION				
⊠	A	Property is associated with events that have made a significant contribution to the broad patterns of our history.					
	В	Property is associated with the lives of persons significant in our past.					
	С	Property embodies the distinctive characteristics of a type, period, or method of construction or represents the work of a master, or possesses high artistic values, or represents a significant and distinguishable entity whose components lack individual distinction.	Period of Significance 1931 -1957				
	D	Property has yielded, or is likely to yield information important in prehistory or history.					
		Criteria Considerations (Mark "x" in all the boxes that apply.)	Significant Dates				
Pro	perty	y is:	1933				
	A	owned by a religious institution or used for religious purposes.					
	В	removed from its original location.	Significant Person (Complete if Criterion B is marked above)				
	С	a birthplace or a grave.					
	D	a cemetery.	Cultural Affiliation				
	E	a reconstructed building, object, or structure.					
	F	a commemorative property.	A salabasa (D. Malasa				
	G	less than 50 years of age or achieved significance within the past 50 years.	Architect/Builder Edwin and Art Nunstedt				
(Expl	ain th	re Statement of Significance e significance of the property on one or more continuation sheets.) Bibliographical References					
Bibl	iogr	aphy					
(Cite	the b	ooks, articles, and other sources used in preparing this form on one o	r more continuation sheets.)				
Prev	ious	documentation on file (NPS):	Primary location of additional data:				
	☐ preliminary determination of individual listing (36 ☐ State Historic Preservation Office ☐ Other State agency						
		riously listed in the National Register	☐ Other State agency ☐ Federal agency				
	prev	riously determined eligible by the National Register	☐ Local government				
designated a National Historic Landmark University recorded by Historic American Buildings Survey Other							
	# Name of repository:						
	recorded by Historic American Engineering Record # Superior National Forest						

10. Geographical Data

Acreage of Property 6 acres

ı	JT!	M	R	ef	er	en	c	0	e

(Place additional UTM references on a continuation sheet)

1.	1 5	6 5 7 4 7 3	5 3 3 7 2 9 6
	Zone	Easting	Northing
2.	1 5	6 5 7 6 3 9	5 3 3 7 3 7 7
•	14151		15 10 10 17 10 14 15 1
3.	1 5	6 5 7 7 3 5	5 3 3 7 2 1 5
	Zone	Easting	Northing
4.	1 5	6 5 7 5 1 7	5 3 3 7 0 5 9
⊠ See o	continuation sheet		

Verbal Boundary Description

(Describe the boundaries of the property on a continuation sheet.)

Boundary Justification

(Explain why the boundaries were selected on a continuation sheet.)

11. Form Prepared By									
name/title	Wm. J. Clayton			·					
organization	Superior National Forest			date	4/27/2007				
street and number	8901 Grand Avenue Place			telephone	218-626-4347				
city or town	Duluth	state	MN	zip code	55808				

Additional Documentation

Submit the following items with the completed form:

Continuation Sheets

Maps

A **USGS map** (7.5 or 15 minute series) indicating the property's location.

A Sketch map for historic districts and properties having large acreage or numerous resources.

Photographs

Representative black and white photographs of the property.

Additional items

(Check with the SHPO or FPO for any additional items)

Property Owner							
(Complete this item at the request of the SHPO or FPO.)							
name							
street & number			telephone				
city or town		state	zip code				

Paperwork Reduction Act Statement: This information is being collected for applications to the National Register of Historic Places to nominate properties for listing or determine eligibility for listing, to list properties, and to amend existing listings. Response to this request is required to obtain a benefit in accordance with the National Historic Preservation Act, as amended (16 U.S.C. 470 et seq.).

Estimated Burden Statement: Public reporting burden for this form is estimated to average 18.1 hours per response including the time for reviewing instructions, gathering and maintaining data, and completing and reviewing the form. Direct comments regarding this burden estimate or any aspect of this form to the Chief, Administrative Services Division, National Park Service, P.O. Box 37127, Washington, DC 20013-7127; and the Office of Management and Budget, Paperwork Reductions Project (1024-0018), Washington, DC 20503

National Register of Historic Places	Chik Wauk Lodge	
Continuation Sheet	Name of property	
	Cook County, Minnesota	
	County and State	
Section 7 Page _ 1		

Introduction

The Chik Wauk Lodge is a single story rough-cut stone building exhibiting a simple rectangular floor plan, a truncated or "cottage-style" hip roof, and a front porch covered with a front-gabled roof. The walls of the building and the large double central fireplace are constructed from locally available granitic rock procured from the nearby islands and shoreline of Saganaga Lake. Chik Wauk Lodge is located in the SE ¼ of the NE ¼ of the SE ¼ of section 30 in Township 66 North, Range 4 West. The lodge is situated on a small point of land that overlooks the west entrance channel to a small bay. This small, rather secluded bay is located midway along the eastern shore of the southeast narrows of Saganaga Lake, locally known as the Saganaga Narrows. Further geographic description puts Chik Wauk Lodge on Moose Pond Road at approximately one-half mile east of the terminus of the Gunflint Trail (County Road 12, in Cook County, Minnesota) where the Superior National Forest (SNF) maintains a campground and boat landing. The lodge is situated on an upland area adjacent to the shoreline of the bay and is surrounded by exposures of naturally occurring bedrock as well as forest vegetation historically characteristic of the northern boreal forest ecosystem. Despite modest alterations, the building still retains integrity.

The lodge was built in 1933 as part of a large resort complex typical of the period and region. The resort consisted of several structures, features and other buildings which included at the time of sale to the SNF, sixteen cabins, a bunkhouse, a woodshop/garage, an office building, a shower building, and a fish cleaning shack. Additional buildings and features included a boathouse attached to the main dock, a sauna, a well house, seven docks, one large wooden footbridge across the Saganaga Narrows, a playground and even a putting green. All buildings and structures with the exception of the lodge and the boathouse were removed or demolished during the present period SNF ownership. The boathouse has been moved at least twice during this same period.

Setting

The resort complex was built on approximately 7,250 feet of ledge rock dominated shoreline that encompasses a small bay and point of land on the east side of a narrows on the southeast corner of Saganaga Lake. The cabins and docks, as well as the lodge itself, were strategically situated on the landscape to afford resort visitors optimum access to the lake as well as the abundant north-woods scenery. The lodge is situated on an upland landform composed of outcrops of local tonalite. This location provides a commanding view of the bay and the surrounding north-woods landscape.

General Characteristics

The lodge building was designed and constructed with a simple rectangular single-story floor plan, a log rafter roof, with one-inch sheathing boards and rough-cut stonewalls. The building is divided into two principal room-units that are separated from each other by a single story stonewall. Accessibility between the rooms is achieved via two doorways set into the dividing wall. The smaller room, which encompasses one third of the floor plan area, was originally subdivided by a wall into a

National Register of Historic Places Continuation Sheet			ric Places	Chik Wauk Lodge
				Name of property
				Cook County, Minnesota
				County and State
Section	7	Page	_2	

commercial kitchen area and secondary room. This wall has recently been removed to create a larger display space for the future history museum.

Specific Features

The lodge is covered by a single "truncated" hip roof or "cottage" roof (Washington State Historic Preservation Program, 1977). The roof is sheathed with one-inch dimensional lumber, and is supported by an intricate system of round-log rafters and structural beams. The rafter ends are left exposed on the bottom without the benefit of a soffit board. Old photographs show a thin facia board attached to the rafter ends. The sloped portions of the roof were finished with a layer of standard three-tab composition shingles, which presumably, covered a layer of tarpaper underlayment. According to historic photographs, the hip ridges were each finished with a metal ridge-cap and the hip valleys were lined with metal valley-inserts. The flat portion of the roof was probably originally hot-roofed.

The most arresting feature of the building is the massive outer stonewalls that are constructed of a pinkish rough-cut granitic stone known geologically as tonalite (MacKenzie and Adams, 1994). Tonalite is the principle rock type of the Saganaga Batholith and is found throughout the Saganaga Lake area in the form of rock outcrops, cobbles, boulders, and gravel (Minnesota Geological Survey, 1982). According to oral histories of several individuals involved with the construction of the lodge, the raw tonalite was gathered from nearby shoreline areas and islands on Saganaga Lake. After being transported to the building site by flat-bottomed boat, specific pieces were selected by the masons that were deemed appropriate for wall construction. Most of the stone in the building appears to be at least somewhat rough-cut; however, there appears to be a few cobbles and small boulders left uncut. All the stone was laid with mortar, in irregular courses and finished off with simple finger pointed joints. Each wall in the lodge appears to be of solid construction and is over a foot thick.

There are ten prominent window sash groups set into the outer stonewall of the lodge. The lights of each sash set in the southern half of the building are all grouped in a four-over-three configuration. In contrast, the lights on the northern sash sets are all grouped in a five-over-three configuration. The windows on the north wall consist of the three groups of four sashes. The center two sashes operate as casement windows and the outer two sashes in each sash group are fixed. All movable sashes in the building were, and are still covered on the outside with simple screens made of one-inch dimensional lumber connected with simple nail joints. The sash groups on the north end of the east and west walls are configured in the same manner as those on the north wall. Each window sash set is enclosed and supported by two jambs, a header, and a sill, which are all made out of half-hewn logs that run anywhere between 8-12 inches in diameter.

In addition to the windows, the lodge possesses five heavily built wooden doors. Three of these doors are situated along the outer walls. One of them opens on to the kitchen space near the center of the south wall, one enters the secondary room from the east wall, and one opens upon the main room from the east wall. Each door is constructed of approximately seven vertically oriented planks of dimensional lumber. Each plank has been rip-cut to approximately 3X6 inches and edge-joined by a full-length spline joint. All five doors are hung with two hand-wrought iron strap hinges that run almost the

OMB Approval No. 1024-0018

United States Department of the Interior National Park Service

National Register of Historic Places Continuation Sheet			ric Places	Chik Wauk Lodge	
				Name of property	
				Cook County, Minnesota	
				County and State	
Section	7	Page	_3		

entire width of the door and terminate in a split-curled or "mustache" type detail. Each hinge is textured across its surface with hammered scars and secured to the door with raised, hand-wrought square-headed nails. Like the windows, each door opening is trimmed out with two half-round log jambs, miter joined to a half-round log header.

Another prominent structural feature of the Chik Wauk Lodge is the front open porch, which spans the central third of the east wall. The porch is covered with an open, front-gabled roof that is supported by exposed log purlins covered with tongue-and-groove sheathing. The roof is supported at the corners by two large square stone columns made from uncut cobbles of tonalite and other local stone material. The columns, in turn, are supported by a boxed-out, three-sided stonewall foundation that is constructed of local rough-cut stone of larger size than those found in the stone columns. The space in between the three walls that makes up the foundation is filled in with loose rock and capped off with a poured cement slab. This slab serves as the floor of the porch. The cement is scored in a grid pattern presumably to provide a modest level of stylistic texture. Outdoor access to the porch is gained by a set of three steps on the south side. These steps are constructed of formed concrete.

A prominent interior feature of the lodge is the large double fireplace situated in the center of the main room. Made from the same type and size of rough-cut tonalite used for the walls, the fireplace consists of two fireboxes placed back-to-back with the openings facing opposite each other. One faces to the west and one to the east. At one time the west-facing firebox did contain a cast iron barrel type stove insert but this was removed in 2006 for fire preventative reasons. Both fireboxes connect to the same flue. The fireboxes are incased in a large rectangular stone structure that is topped with formed concrete, which serves as a continuous mantel or shelf all the way around the fireplace. The chimney with its single flue is inset from the edge of the firebox wall and tapers up toward the ceiling. The courses of stone are more patterned than the wall and there are several striking pieces of local amethyst and milk-quartz cobbles, which are mortared in prominent positions on the firebox-sides of the chimney as well as the facia around the concrete mantel.

An interesting note about the chimney is that it serves as the interior anchor point for the log roof support system. The anchor point consists of a small let-in or depression positioned at a central point on the front face of the chimney. This beam-pocket serves as a sort of mortise or notch, which receives the inside ends of the lowest two horizontal support beams for the roof truss system.

Alterations/Rehabilitation

Several alterations to the building have been made over the years including those resulting from maintenance or rehabilitation projects conducted by the SNF since acquiring it in 1980. Evidence for pre-SNF changes comes from historic photographs, informal interviews of Nunstedt family members (Kerfoot, 2006), discussions with SNF personnel, and physical remnants of building materials discovered on the ground surrounding the area of the building footprint.

While the form and structure of the roof have not been altered in any significant way beyond the removal of the original metal ridge caps, there have been changes in the building material used for sheathing and weatherproofing. Although any construction or maintenance chronology is unknown prior to USFS ownership, the original shingles and shingle-underlayment materials most likely have

National Register of Historic Places Continuation Sheet			Chik Wauk Lodge	
			Name of property	
			Cook County, Minnesota	
			County and State	
Section	7	Page 4	-	

been replaced on more than one occasion. Based on the aforementioned sources of evidence, it is reasonable to assume that the earliest shingles were red in color and had rounded tab ends. The present shingles, installed by the SNF sometime in the 1990s, are standard light gray, three-tab composition shingles.

Additional roof alterations consist of spot replacement of original sheathing with modern materials and replacement of the partial facia on the rafter ends. It must be noted that not all of this new material is historically sympathetic. Several sheathing boards in the eaves and porch roof have been replaced with one-inch thick non-joinable dimensional lumber that, upon close inspection, appears similar to the original. However, most of the original sheathing material on the porch roof has been replaced with a tongue-and groove type, which does not appear to have been originally installed on the building. The original facia board, like the sheathing, consisted of one-inch dimensional lumber. Some of that has been spot replaced as well. It appears that all these roof alterations were made by the SNF for maintenance purposes and occurred in the late 1990's.

Another alteration to the roof that should be noted is the temporary installation of a soft, waterproof membrane over the original flat roof. This membrane was installed in the late 1990s by the SNF to prevent water leakage in the main room of the lodge. The membrane was installed with a low center ridge that runs in a north-south direction, which allows water to run-off the east and west sides and reduces ice buildup on the flat portion of the roof. Also completed during this time was the replacement of flashing around the two chimneys accompanied by copious amounts of roofing compound to prevent chronic leaking around the chimneys.

During the summer of 2006, the SNF completed a rehabilitation of the doors and windows. As part of an effort to facilitate the adaptive reuse of the building, in the summer of 2006 all of the window panes were removed, scraped, cleaned of glazing compound, re-glazed, painted and re-installed. Additional rehabilitation work during this time, consisted of painting all wooden window parts including the half-log jambs, headers and sills as well as reconstructing all of the screens out historically sympathetic one-inch strips of lumber. All the mesh hardware cloth on the screen doors was replaced as well.

Additional changes were made during the 2006 project that consisted of removing items from the interior of the building. First of these changes was the removal of the original plaster-and-lathe stud wall that separated the secondary room, located on the southeast corner of the building, from the kitchen. Another alteration consisted of the complete removal of a modern suspended ceiling that once covered the kitchen and the secondary room.

Conclusion

Chik Wauk Lodge has stood on the southeast shoreline of Saganaga Lake for approximately 74 years and has undergone little in the way of significant alterations. The lodge consists of a simple three-room floor plan and possesses several notable architectural elements including its four thick stonewalls and a large truncated hip roof supported by an intricate system of round log timbers. Additional noteworthy elements include the large stone and concrete porch on the east wall of the building as well as the large central double fireplace centered in the main room of the lodge. Early alterations to the

National Register of Historic Places Continuation Sheet			Chik Wauk Lodge	
			Name of property	
			Cook County, Minnesota	
			County and State	
Section	<u> </u>	Page <u>5</u>		

building consisted of routine maintenance projects such as shingle replacement or repainting. Additional alterations resulted from maintenance or rehabilitation projects conducted by the SNF. In either case, alterations did not change the original character defining features of the lodge.

Statement of Significance

Summary

Chik Wauk Lodge, built in present form in 1933 near the northern terminus of the Gunflint Trail in Cook County Minnesota, meets National Register Criteria A for its local significance in the area of Entertainment/Recreation. The lodge is a direct reflection of a unique historical pattern of fishing-resort outdoor recreation that flourished in the Border Lakes Country of northeastern Minnesota, in and around the lakes and streams of the Superior National Forest, from the 1920s to the early 1960s. Discussion of a similar historic context is found in the National Park Service report entitled, "Historic Context for Tourism and Recreational Development in the Minnesota Northern Border Lakes from the 1880s through the 1950s" (National Park Service, 1999). The rough-cut stone lodge building was once the centerpiece of a large Gunflint Trail resort complex, which offered to tourists: lodging in rustic-style cabins, cooked meals as well as access to above-average fishing and northern Minnesota scenery. The lodge served as a store, resort office, restaurant, and lounge area for resort guests. Since the lodge has not been significantly altered or moved from its original site and the surrounding landscape and socioeconomic patterns of the upper Gunflint Trail have changed little, the building retains all seven aspects of integrity to a substantial degree.

Gunflint Trail History

The first section of the current Gunflint Trail was a tote road built in the 1870's that meandered over streams and along the base of the low mountains from Grand Marais to Rove Lake on the Canadian border- a distance of 23 miles. Henry Mayhew built a trading post at the lake after he finished work on the tote road. As a County Commissioner, Mayhew persuaded the rest of the Cook County Board of Commissioners to make the Rove Lake Road a county road and to fund continual widening and other enhancements. Mayhew not only ran the trading post, but he was an avid prospector for precious minerals. It was the discovery of silver in the Thunder Bay area and the prospect of gold, silver, copper and other precious minerals that drove Mayhew and others to seek viable transportation routes into the region for the establishment of test mines. Despite numerous attempts, none of these mines ever produced precious metals.

An 1850 mineral survey found iron ore in the area just west of Gunflint Lake. As a result, the Paulson Mine was developed from 1891-1893 to explore the possibility of extracting iron ore from these deposits. The tote road was extended to the area south of Gunflint Lake so that supplies could be brought in to the mine. Almost immediately after the mine opened, a financial panic and the discovery and development of a much higher grade of ore on the Mesabi Iron Range caused the mine to be permanently closed.

United States Department of the Interior National Park Service

National Register of Historic Places Continuation Sheet			Places	Chik Wauk Lodge	
				Name of property	
				Cook County, Minnesota	
				County and State	
Section	8	Page	2		

In addition to mining, the timber industry also had a hand in the improvement of the Gunflint Trail. During the 1890s, or the beginning of what is known as the Big-Pine Logging Era (1895-1930), the General Logging Company began cutting red and white pine stands in the Gunflint Trail area along the shores of several lakes including, Poplar, Hungry Jack, Clearwater, Daniels, and Rose (Heinman, 1996). The Gunflint Trail was improved in order to transport crews and supplies to these large logging operations, (Raff, 1981).

The first tourist cabins were built in 1912 at Greenwood Lake, closely followed by Clearwater Lake in 1916, and as new sections of the road were improved, first for horse and wagon travel and then for the new motor car, more and more of the lakes in the region could be opened to tourists and cabin-builders.

Following the route of the old tote road, the county and federal governments slowly widened and improved the road north to Poplar, then to the Cross River, then to Seagull Lake by 1929. By the end of the 1920s the following lodges and outfitters operated along the Gunflint Trail: Bearskin Lodge on East Bearskin Lake, Clearwater Lodge on Clearwater Lake, Gateway Lodge on Hungry Jack Lake, the YMCA's Camp Menogyn on West Bearskin Lake, Rockwood Lodge on Poplar Lake, Borderland Lodge on Gunflint Lake, Gunflint Lodge on Gunflint Lake, Loon Lake Lodge on Loon Lake, Windigo Point on Seagull Lake and Seagull Lodge on Seagull Lake.

In the 1930's, Nor'wester Lodge on Poplar Lake, Old Northwoods Lodge on Poplar Lake, Heston's on Gunflint, Tuscarora on Round Lake, Wildwood Lodge on Seagull, Swanson's Lodge on Hungry Jack, Saganaga Fishing Camp and Chik Wauk Lodge on Saganaga were also in operation.

Private Toll Road to Saganaga Lake

The final section of the Gunflint Trail running from Seagull Lake to Saganaga at the end of the trail has an interesting and complex story. Originally, it was a privately financed and built toll road, constructed with the explicit purpose of allowing access to two resorts Chik Wauk Lodge and Sea Gull Lodge. Financing came from both business owners Russell Blankenburg of Sea Gull Lodge and Art Nunstedt of Chik Wauk Lodge.

In a 1981 interview, Russell Blankenburg recounted the original rationale behind the construction of this private extension of the Gunflint Trail from Seagull Lake up to Saganaga Lake:

"About 1929, I think, the road was finally finished here into Seagull and 1928-1929 we built the Seagull Lodge. Most of the resort area people at that time were primarily fishermen and they were interested mostly in fishing. A so-called resort was largely a place where they might get some food or a place to sleep. They didn't care about wall-to-wall carpeting or anything like that. It was just good food, a place to sleep and good fishing, that was the main things. So Art Nunstedt was Registrar of Deeds at that time, and his father was quite a builder, and Art and I conceived the idea, instead of going through down the river through all this, perhaps we could get a road over there and people could drive over in just a short time and have access to the lake drive without this rugged river trip. So

United States Department of the Interior National Park Service

National Register of Historic Places	Chik Wauk Lodge	
Continuation Sheet	Name of property	
	Cook County, Minnesota	
	County and State	
Section8		

we thought it would be a good idea if we could build a road over there and each of us have a fishing camp or resort of some sort of a service over at that end".

Further dialogue from that 1981 interview included a lively retelling of the easement process for extending the Trail:

"So we each acquired some land over there and then looked forward to building the road. But we needed some easements to get across the other land, which was owned by the Forest Service. And so I wrote the Forest Service in Ely and asked them about getting an easement across some of the intervening land. And we understood that down in Washington there was a stack of protests against any further roads, higher that your head, you know. And of course, the Forest Service, no doubt, had intense pressure against anyone building a road, so the answer to my letter was very curt, and basically, it said that we couldn't cross one foot of forest land, that was it. So that was, 'no soap' for further road to Saganaga- so it was even worse than it is now. So the consequence then, we had to do some detouring to manage to get over there on land that we could cross over'.

Additional discourse from Mr. Blankenburg's interview provides us with a candid narration of the actual construction project as it evolved:

"So, we started out to build the road from Seagull Lodge over to Saganaga Lake. But those were before the days of tractors and bulldozers and it was very hard work. The actual cutting of the right-of-way and taking out the stumps was a little different in those days. Commonly if you had heavy stumps, you'd use a crow bar and put a hole down underneath them and then put a stick of dynamite or two, under it and then blow the stump out rather then just rush it out with a bulldozer. But for the transportation of the fill material, we had wagons; the bottom of the bed of which was two-by-fours laid side -by-side and then rounded at the ends so after you had your load of fill on there, you could get at the end and lift up these two-by-fours and shake the dirt down through, you know, and then go back and get another load by shovels. Usually two men with a long-handled shovel would load the thing. And that was the way we got most of the material for building the initial road. But in laying out the road, we didn't have any engineering and neither Art nor I was an engineer and we had a dry spring that year. So we built the road where it seemed feasible, you know, dry enough. And the general technique was, when we'd have these granite knobs and knolls, we didn't want to do any of that heavy blasting so we always worked around those. And in the intervening part, commonly, we would get into swamps, so those we would corduroy, and then haul in the material to fill over. So, we did manage to get the road through, such as it was."

When the road was finished in 1931, a toll of \$1 was charged for non-guests to drive to Saganaga Lake to fish. Within two years, the county united the toll road to the official county road and completed the 57-miles of the Gunflint Trail.

Ownership of Chik-Wauk Land

The Chik Wauk Lodge is located on Lot 3, Section 30 of T66N R4W of 4th PM, Cook County, MN. All through the Contact period (1630-present)the Saganaga Lake area was seasonally occupied by groups of First Nations people who hunted, gathered and fished as well as traded with the numerous brigades of French and English canoemen making their trading runs to and from Grand Portage in the 1600-1800's. With the signing of the Treaty of 1854, the land passed into the possession of the U. S. Government and

United States Department of the Interior National Park Service

National Register of Historic Places Continuation Sheet			Chik Wauk Lodge Name of property	
			County and State	
Section	8	Page4		

thus fell under the Land Act of 1820 and subsequent land acts that allowed individuals to purchase lots for \$1.25 per acre. Alice S. McKinley, of Duluth, Minnesota, exercised this right on Oct. 31, 1887 and applied to purchase lots 1,2,3,and 4 of Section 30, T66 4W (a total of 131.75 acres) for \$1.25 per acre (a total of \$164.60). She received title to the parcels on Oct. 3, 1888.

The entire parcel of 131.75 acres was quickly transferred to the Vermilion and Grand Marais Iron Company on Dec. 5, 1888 for the sum of \$6145.20. This Corporation was founded Feb. 24, 1876 in Duluth, Minnesota. Article II of the Articles of Incorporation states "The general nature of the business to be carried on by the corporation shall be mining, smelting, reducing, refining and working ores and minerals and manufacturing iron steel and other metals and buying, working, selling and dealing in mineral and other lands". The corporation was capitalized at \$5,000,000. Henry McLoud was listed as President and William McKinley as Vice President (possibly related to the Alice S. McKinley, wife of John McKinley, who applied for the original land grant). William McKinley applied for and received title to the lands adjoining Chik-Wauk lots on similar dates. This corporation had officers from New York, Illinois, Michigan and Minnesota. The land under Chik-Wauk was held by this group for 18 years until 1905.

Another Minnesota corporation and its officers were involved in ownership of the Chik-Wauk land; The Farm Land Investment Company. This Minnesota corporation was founded in 1908 in Minneapolis; the corporation, the corporate president, William D. Washburn, Jr. and the corporate secretary, Otto J. Borer all took turns owning the property from 1905-1912.

The land was sold to Alfred and Carrie Dean of Hennepin County, Minnesota in 1913 and they in turn sold it to Edwin Nunstedt of Cook County in 1931. Mr. Nunstedt was the first Cook County resident to own the property. He had emigrated from Sweden in 1901 and lived on a farm on Good Harbor Hill, west of Grand Marais. In addition to participating in the building of Chik Wauk Lodge, he was owner of the North Shore Builders Company, Grand Marais and the old North Shore Builders Supply Company, Two Harbors, Minnesota. As a building contractor, he built the Arrowhead Hotel, the local Coast Guard station and many homes in Grand Marais. His wife, Ida Sophia Olson Nunstedt was born Dec. 23, 1877 in Smoland, Sweden. She came to Two Harbors in 1901 and married Ed Nunstedt in 1903 and they moved to Grand Marais in the same year.

Ed and his wife had four children. The eldest, Art, was born July 18, 1903. Art finished three years of college in electrical engineering before he was asked to return to Grand Marais to work in the family businesses. Art then worked at the Arrowhead Hotel and in the lumbering business, repairing the machinery. In addition, he served as Registrar of Deeds for Cook County. The next child was a daughter Edith who married Art Faucett. They stayed in Grand Marais and ran the Arrowhead Hotel. The third child was a daughter named Esther. She helped her brother Art run Chik Wauk until Art married Lydia Mayer in 1936. During the years she worked at the resort, Esther and a helper did the laundry, prepared the meals and served in the dining room. After Art and Lydia were married, Esther was no longer active in the running of Chik Wauk Lodge. Edith eventually married a local CCC enrollee

United States Department of the Interior National Park Service

National Register of Historic Places Continuation Sheet			Chik Wauk Lodge Name of property	
			County and State	
Section	8	Page 5	-	

named George Johnson. The youngest Nunstedt child was Carl, born Feb. 18th, 1920. Carl was 11 years old when Chik-Wauk property was acquired and the "toll road" was built into the property. Although he casually helped at the resort, Carl was never a permanent member of the staff. In 1933, Ed and Ida Nunstedt passed the ownership of Chik-Wauk Lodge to their son Arthur who ran the resort from 1933 until it was sold in 1952.

Art and Lydia Nunstedt sold the Lodge in 1952 to Carl and Phyllis Noyes. The Noyes were residents of Wisconsin who came to visit Carl's brother, Darwin – owner of Rockwood Lodge on Poplar Lake, Gunflint Trail. During their visit, they drove to the end of the trail and visited Chik-Wauk and were impressed by the beautiful site and the opportunity to be in the resort business. They proceeded to purchase the lodge and go into partnership with Carl's sister Erma Brugger and her husband Herb. The four of them ran Chik-Wauk in 1952- 1954. Then the Bruggers assumed full ownership and ran the Lodge until 1958.

According to the account in *A Taste of the Gunflint Trail*, Bea and Ralph Griffis, came up to Minnesota during the 1950s where Ralph took a job supervising construction for part of the Erie Mining plant on Lake Superior. During their time off they explored the country and discovered the Gunflint Trail with Chik-Wauk lodge on Saganaga Lake. In 1957 they managed Chik-Wauk with Herb and Erma Brugger. The next year Ralph and Bea purchased the resort. It would be their business and summer home for the next forty-two years." In 1978, when USFS offered buy-outs to resorts near the newly formed BWCA Wilderness, the Griffis opted to sell, but were afforded a 20-year lease on the property to be able to spend the next 20 years summering at Chik-Wauk. In 2000, the USFS took full possession of the property.

History of the Lodge Building

Following the building of the toll road into Saganaga in the summer of 1931, a log lodge and five small cabins were built. The resort was ready for business in the summer of 1932. Unfortunately, in the summer of 1933, one of the guides, who was watching the log lodge, was camped out in the storeroom of the lodge. The story goes that the storeroom was filled with camping gear and that the guide and his dog were sleeping in the room. A pair of socks had been laid on a small table with a lit kerosene lamp. The dog went for the socks and inadvertently knocked the lamp over, setting the gear afire. Unfortunately, the entire log structure was lost as well as all the gear. Surprisingly, the original stone porch survived the fire and the new stone building was built around the existing porch.

In the fall of 1933, the Nunstedts committed to rebuild their lodge, but they decided to build it of stone to protect from it fire and have it ready for the 1934 summer season. Carl Nunstedt was 14 years old at the time of the re-building. He participated in the collection of the cobbles and boulders of local tonalite. This raw material was transported in flat bottom boats to the building site. When the stone arrived at the building site, the two stonemasons selected the most beautiful stones to be saved for the

National Register of Historic Places Continuation Sheet			Places	Chik Wauk Lodge Name of property	
				Cook County, Minnesota	
				County and State	
Section	8	Page _	6		

double fireplace. The special amethyst mantle stones were found on Gold's Island in Saganaga Lake. The windows were stamped with "Grand Marais" and were commercially made. The exterior doors are hand made with wrought iron hardware made by Jock Richardson from the Canadian side of Saganaga. Richardson also made the interior wrought iron light sconces.

The original roof was covered in red shingles shown in later photos and exterior windows were green frames with white mullions. The exterior door to the basement was stained natural. The front porch had a concrete floor scribed with a pattern resembling tiles or squares (seen in old close-up photo of the porch interior).

The resort was originally powered by a 24-volt gas-driven generator with battery storage. Thus, there were always electric lights in the lodge. A newer generator was purchased after WWII and rural electrification occurred in the 1950's. Phone service was provided by the Forest Service line, put in particularly for fire protection reporting. The "ring" was two longs and a short. Later, the phone number was "26F21".

Conclusion

The Chik Wauk Lodge, constructed by the Nunstedt Family as the centerpiece of the Chik Wauk Resort is a stone building that was constructed in the early 1930s on the south shore of great Saganaga Lake at the upper end of the Gunflint Trail in northeastern Minnesota. The lodge building is an artifact of a historic pattern of recreational tourism in northeast Minnesota that saw fluorescence in the early and middle decades of the 20th Century. This pattern was centered around family owned and operated resort facilities that catered to automobile tourist that sought out rustic accommodations, guided fishing and scenic character of the Gunflint Trail landscape. Because of its association with this localized historical pattern of tourism and its retention of integrity, the Chik Wauk Lodge is eligible for inclusion in the National Register of Historic Places.

National Register of Historic Places Continuation Sheet			Chik Wauk Lodge	
			Name of property	
			Lake County, Minnesota	
-			County and State	
Section	9	Page1		

Bibliography

Blankenburg, Russell, and Eva Blankenburg. Tape Recording.

- Brandt, Luana, et al., <u>A Taste of the Gunflint Trail: Recipes and Stories from the Lodges as shared by</u> the Women of the Gunflint Trail. Cambridge, Minnesota: Adventure Publications Inc., 2003
- Carosso, Vincent P., et al., <u>Timber and Men: The Weyerhauser Story</u>. New York: Macmillan Company, 1963.
- Cook County, Minnesota, <u>Abstract of Title to Government Lots Two, Three, and Four of Section Thirty in Township Sixty Six North of Range Four West of the 4th P.M. in Cook County, Minnesota. Superior National Forest, Duluth, Minnesota.</u>
- Fruen, Douglas E., <u>Appraisal for Chik Wauk Lodge</u>. Minneapolis, Minnesota: Shenhon-Goodlund-Taylor-Fruen Inc., 1979.
- Heinselman, Miron L., <u>The Boundary Waters Wilderness Ecosystem</u>. Minneapolis, Minnesota: University of Minnesota Press, 1996.
- McAlester, Virginia and Lee McAlester, <u>A Field Guide to American Houses</u>. New York: Alfred A. Knopf, 2003.
- Myer, Norbert and Carl Nunstedt, Interview by Susan Kerfoot. Tape recording. 9 August, 2006.
- National Park Service, <u>Historic Context for Tourism and Recreational Development in the Minnesota</u>
 Northern Border Lakes from the 1880s through the 1950s. Minnesota: Voyageurs National Park, 1999.
- Raff, Willis H., <u>Pioneers in the Wilderness: Minnesota's Cook County, Grand Marais and the Gunflint</u> in the 19th Century. Grand Marais, Minnesota: Cook County Historical Society, 1981.
- Washington State Historic Preservation Program, <u>Architectural Description Guide</u>. Olympia, Washington: Office of Archaeology and Historic Preservation, 1977.

National Register of Historic Places Continuation Sheet			Places	Chik Wauk Lodge	
				Name of property	
				Cook County, Minnesota	
				County and State	
Section	10	Page	1		

Verbal Boundary Description

The boundary of the Chik Wauk Lodge is shown as a small red polygon on the attached site location map.

Boundary Justification

The boundary includes the peninsula that juts out between the two bays and the shoreline of the bay that is immediately north and east of the Chik Wauk Lodge building. This boundary was chosen because it includes most of the original use area of the resort and the bay that was once the focus of resort operations. The boundary also includes the opposite shore of the bay, which constitutes much of the view-shed as can be seen from the lodge.

